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Hot Topics in LABOR LAW REPORTS:

House committee hears that recess appointments may threaten constitutional system of checks and balances

At a hearing today of the House Oversight and Government Reform Committee, witnesses and congressional representatives sparred over the constitutionality of President Barack Obama’s recent recess appointments. Opponents of the president’s decision contend that it threatens to upend the constitutional system of checks and balances, while supporters said that the president was forced to make the appointments in order to keep vital federal agencies running.

In 2011, the president nominated Terence F. Flynn, Sharon Block and Richard Griffin to the NLRB. Flynn was nominated in January, and Block and Griffin were nominated on December 15, 2011, two days before the Senate ended its business for the year. The Senate did not receive permission from the House to declare recess and returned for a series of pro-forma sessions in which no work was conducted in an effort to deny the president the option of using his recess powers to name members. On the advice from the Department of Justice, the president decided that the Senate was in recess and named the three members to the Board.

On Wednesday, February 1, the Oversight Committee conducted a hearing on the appointments. “Uncharted Territory: What are the Consequences of President Obama’s Unprecedented ‘Recess’ Appointments?” featured testimony from Senator Mike Lee (R-Utah) and a panel of experts; C. Boyden Gray, the founding partner of Boyden Gray & Associates and a former White House Counsel; Andrew J. Pincus, a partner at Mayer Brown; Michael J. Gerhardt, the Samuel Ashe Distinguished Professor in Constitutional Law, University of North Carolina School of Law; David B. Rivkin, a partner at Baker Hostetler, LLP; and Mark A. Carter, a partner at Dinsmore & Shohl, LLP.

Chairman Darrell Issa began the hearing by noting that while the Senate was in what the President called a recess, it passed an extension of the payroll tax holiday. Issa said that the appointments placed “Congress and the Executive Branch in uncharted territory because at the time of the appointment, the Senate was holding a series of ‘pro forma’ sessions.” Given the lawsuits that have either been threatened or filed over the appointments, Issa asserted that the president’s decision was “not a recipe for good government and effective rulemaking—it’s a recipe for Constitutional crisis.”

While Representative Peter Welch (D-Vt) contended that the debate was nothing more than arguments over procedure, most of the witnesses disagreed. Senator Lee said that everyone, including the President needs to follow the rules, and that allowing the appointments to stand sends a bad message. Lee argued that if the precedent that the president can name members while the Senate is out of town is allowed to stand, it will call into question the constitutional system of checks and balances.

Other witnesses agreed. Rivkin noted that the Constitution gives the House equal say as to when the Senate is in recess and contended that, under the president’s analysis, he could make recess appointments while the Senate took a lunch break. He further cautioned that the appointments “vitiate” the House’s ability to interact with the Senate and could lead to the placement of “political flunkies” for unaccountable, two-year terms.

Other witnesses referred to the argument that the Senate’s rules matter. Pincus suggested that the Constitution does not require the Senate to fill federal agencies and stated that “getting it right,” a reference to the nomination and confirmation process is more important than staffing the agencies. Representative James Lanford (R-Okla) noted that when former President George Bush was faced with a similar situation, he declined to declare a recess and Gray said that when he was White House Counsel, he never would have signed off on the DOJ’s advisory opinion. Gerhardt disagreed and suggested the president was merely saying that he is not bound by the Senate’s interpretation of what constitutes a recess. He also praised the president for putting substance over form.

Other witnesses cited the potential for litigation as a reason to oppose the nominations. Carter said that every decision by the Board will be under attack, because of the nature of the appointments, resulting in increased labor strife. He also warned that certain actions by the Board, such as orders to relocate a factory, could result in great devastation to communities that would not be undone later if a court ruled that the appointments were unconstitutional.

Obama Administration asks court to reject challenge to Board recess appointments

The Obama Administration, in a motion filed on Monday, January 30, has asked a federal judge to reject a challenge to President Barack Obama’s recent recess appointments to the NLRB made while the Senate was out of town.

Last month, the president declared that the Senate, which had been holding pro-forma sessions in which no work was done, was technically in recess, which allowed him to use his recess appointment powers to name members to the NLRB and to the Consumer Financial Protection Board. 

Following those appointments, several organizations, including the National Association of Manufacturers and the National Right to Work Legal Defense and Education Foundation asked to amend their lawsuit filed over the NLRB’s notice posting rule, to allow them to challenge the constitutionality of the appointments. The groups have argued that the appointments were unconstitutional and, thus, any future implementation of the rule would be improper because, without the new members, the Board would lack a quorum.

The administration, in its latest filing, contends that the trade groups’ challenge is “futile.” It argued that the attempt to contest the constitutionality of the appointments is not relevant to the lawsuit, because the Board, when it promulgated the rules at issue, was properly constituted. The Administration notes that the new rules automatically become effective on April 30, 2012, regardless of the new members. Therefore, the Administration contends, the trade groups cannot claim that any injury they may suffer because of the rule’s promulgation “can be traced to any action of the newly-appointed Board members.” Lacking that ability, the Administration argues, the groups “cannot establish standing to assert their proposed new claim.” Additionally, to the extent that the groups are claiming that they are threatened by the actions of the new members, the Administration argues that “those claims are too conjectural to confer standing and are not ripe.”

The recess appointments were also the subject of a hearing of the House Oversight and Government Reform Committee held on February 1.

President signs FAA reauthorization into law

On February 14, President Obama signed the conference report to H.R. 658, the measure funding the Federal Aviation Administration, into law. The measure has been criticized by numerous unions for its changes to the National Mediation Board’s election procedures.

The new law amends the Railway Labor Act to mandate that the NMB must allow for a public hearing on any “rules and regulations as may be necessary to carry out the provisions of this Act.” It also amends the RLA to require that, if in any runoff election offering three or more options for representation none of the options gets a majority of the valid votes cast, a second election must be held between the top two choices. In addition, the bill amends the RLA to raise the showing of interest threshold for elections from the current 35 percent to not less than 50 percent of the employees in the craft or class. The current threshold is 35 percent. 

The International Association of Machinists had called on the president to veto the legislation, which it called “deeply flawed” and “a capitulation that upsets carefully balanced safeguards that have long existed in the Railway Labor Act.” 

The union’s president, Tom Buffenbarger, did acknowledge that the law will improve the country’s air traffic infrastructure, but criticized the provisions that “gut long-standing labor protections for air and rail workers.”

Workforce Committee hearing explores ramifications of NLRB recess appointments

In an often contentious February 7 hearing of the House Committee on Education and the Workforce, witnesses debated the constitutionality of the recent recess appointments made by President Obama to the NLRB. Most of the witnesses contended that the appointments, because of the looming constitutional question, will create uncertainty in the workplace. Other witnesses argued strongly that not having a functioning Board, which would have occurred without the appointments, would create more uncertainty and would be unfair to employers and employees alike.

In January, the President Obama made three recess appointments to the NLRB, contending that, because the Senate was not available to conduct business during its pro forma sessions, it was in technical recess thus allowing him to make the appointments. At that time, the House had refused to allow the Senate to declare a recess over concerns that the president would use his recess powers to name members to the NLRB, an agency that many of the House majority Republicans view as out of control. The hope was that by denying the Board a full quorum, it could not, under the Supreme Court’s decision in New Process Steel v NLRB, issue decisions and rules.

Committee chair John Kline (R-Minn.) set out the parameters of the debate in concise terms. He argued that, while no one questions the president’s power to make recess appointments, the Senate has the authority to determine its own rules and processes including its recess processes. Kline noted that, in 2007, Senate Democrats began convening pro forma sessions every three days in order to prevent then-President George W. Bush from making recess appointments to the Board. Kline expressed the concern that “[d]ecisions based on shaky legal ground can often lead to embarrassing contradictions” and noted that during the pro forma session, Congress approved an extension of the payroll tax cut. Kline acknowledged that “in many ways the appointment process is broken,” but argued that “no president should endorse an unconstitutional scheme in order to address a political problem.”

The hearing testimony stayed close to the issues set forth by Kline. Susan M. Davis, a partner at Cohen, Weiss and Simon LLP, noted that the NLRB is the sole agency with the authority to administer labor laws and must be allowed to function. She argued that the committee should focus on the uncertainty of what could happen in the event of a nonfunctioning Board. She presented a scenario in which victims of unfair labor practices could not obtain redress, employers would face uncertainty over possible elections, and unions and employers could not work together to resolve important issues.

As for the uncertainty regarding the constitutionality of the appointments, under questioning Davis stated that the Eleventh Circuit has declared a presumption of constitutionality in recess appointments, and that the constitution does not require recesses of three days or more. Instead, according to Davis, the important inquiry is whether the Senate was able to perform its duties when the president made the appointments. She contended that it was not.

Davis also addressed the mechanism of the pro forma sessions and declared that the idea that the Senate could “post one person in Chamber, while an outstanding Senate order insisted no work could be done” was not a workable idea.

Other witnesses also spoke to the uncertainty hovering over the appointment process. Stefan Marculewicz, a shareholder at Littler Mendelson, cited the chaos following New Process Steel as a reason why the president should not have made the appointments. He argued that many employers will comply with Board decisions, and that if the Board decisions are later nullified, it will be difficult to undo the process.

Dennis M. Devaney of Devaney Jacob Wilson, PLLC and a former Board member, contended that, while the use of pro forma sessions by Democrats against Bush was “partisan politics,” it was allowed under the system. He also argued that the Board erred in deciding that a two-member panel could issue decisions and said that the constitutionality of the appointments would cause equal uncertainty.

Charles M. Cooper, of Cooper & Kirk, PLLC, addressed the Senate’s right to make its own rules and stated that the Constitution gives the Senate the sole right to declare when it is in session. Under intense questioning from Representative Rob Andrews (D-N.J.), Cooper contended that, although the Senate could not declare itself permanently in session, it could do as it did with the pro forma sessions.

That exchange led Representative Trey Gowdy (R-S.C.) to ask how “recess” would be defined following the president’s decision. Gowdy suggested that the president could make recess appointments when the Senate was on a lunch break, but Davis contended that the relevant inquiry is whether the Senate is able to perform its duties when the president makes a recess appointment.

Davis also addressed the benefits of a functioning Board, citing the recent case involving Boeing. Davis argued that, in that case, the Board complaint led the union and Boeing to work together to create jobs in two states. Marculewicz countered that in the case of a “broken Board,” little would actually change, as most cases are resolved at the regional level.

Representative George Miller (D-Cal.) closed out the hearing by asking whether the Senate’s right to make its own rules trumps the president’s right to exercise his constitutional authority. Miller and many of the witnesses agreed that the resolution of that question rests with the courts.

NLRB’s controversial election case procedures final rule subject of CCH Insight Q & A

As 2011 came to a close, the National Labor Relations Board made a rather controversial move when it published a final rule governing election case procedures that the Board said is intended to reduce unnecessary litigation and delays in the representation election process. To help practitioners understand the rule’s implications, CCH reached out to Brooke Duncan, III, Partner, Adams and Reese LLP and Employment Law Daily Advisor, and Prof. Charles Craver, George Washington University Law School. CCH’s most recent issue of Labor Law Reports: Insight explores the controversy.

House bill would prohibit NLRB from ordering employer to turn over employee phone numbers, email addresses

Calling it an “intolerable invasion of privacy” to force employers to hand over employees’ personal contact information, Rep. Sandy Adams (R-Fla) has introduced legislation that would bar the NLRB from compelling an employer to provide employees’ telephone numbers or email addresses to the NLRB or directly to a labor union. The Keeping Employees’ Emails and Phones (KEEP) Secure Act (H.R. 3991) would protect employee privacy and also “stop the NLRB’s overreach,” Adams said, referring to recent efforts by the Board to implement rulemaking that would amend NLRB election procedures.

The legislation provides that the NLRB “may not require an employer to provide to either the NLRB or a labor union an employee’s telephone number or email address.” The NLRB’s proposed changes to representation election procedures, issued in June 2011, would have required employers to provide the union with a final voter list that included employees’ names, addresses, phone numbers, and email addresses, within two days after a representation election is scheduled. (Currently, an Excelsior list, including the names and addresses of eligible voters, is to be turned over to the regional director, which then provides the information to the union within seven days of an election being scheduled.) While the final rule issued in December did not include this provision, the NLRB’s recent regulatory agenda indicates that Chairman Mark Pearce intends to reintroduce this omitted provision.

“[E]mboldened by President Obama's unconstitutional appointment of three new members of the board, NLRB Chairman Mark Pearce has indicated plans to interject the federal government into the private lives of Americans by forcing employers to hand over employees’ phone numbers and e-mail addresses to the NLRB, as well as the unions themselves,” Adams said. H.R. 3991 seeks to stymie that effort.

The bill has more than 30 cosponsors.

NLRB Division of Advice finds that employer unlawfully failed to bargain with union rep under service agreement

In a December Advice Memorandum officially released on February 10, the NLRB’s Division of Advice found that a union kept its Section 9 bargaining authority and that an employer’s subsequent refusal to bargain with the union, despite an ostensible delegation of that authority, violated the NLRA.

Extruders, a Texas-based windows manufacturer, had negotiated with UNITE HERE since 1993, but in 2010, a disaffiliation campaign began. Several months after the campaign began, UNITE HERE entered into a servicing agreement with the Southwest Regional Joint Board, Workers United, SEIU (SWRJB). Under the agreement, UNITE HERE kept exclusive bargaining authority for the unit, while SWRJB handled grievance and insurance disputes for the employees. Shortly thereafter, Extruders and UNITE HERE negotiated changes to the pension plan, but UNITE HERE told the employer that it needed to have the agreement signed by SWRJB. The employer signed, but complained.

Approximately six months later, following an immigration audit, Extruders threatened to terminate all employees who could not provide proof of legal residency. UNITE HERE contended that the issue was a grievance matter and that the employer needed to deal with SWRJB. Extruders refused, contending that the matter was not suitable for grievance proceedings. The employer and UNITE HERE continued to discuss the issues, until Extruders denied access to a SWRJB representative. UNITE HERE then filed charges with the Board, contending that Extruders failed to bargain with its servicing agent.

The Division of Advice found that the employer had indeed failed to bargain. In its memo, the Division noted that the Board has found servicing agreements invalid when the agreement constitutes a full delegation of Section 9 bargaining authority. In the instant case, however, the agreement was “facially valid,” because UNITE HERE had a “clear agency relationship” with SWRJB, in which UNITE HERE kept the ultimate authority for bargaining on behalf of the membership. In addition, when UNITE HERE sought to deal with the threatened termination, it filed a grievance and asked for information from the employer. In terms of SWRJB, UNITE HERE merely sought to use it to handle the grievance. Therefore, the Division found that UNITE HERE had not “impermissibly” delegated its authority to SWRJB and Extruder’s subsequent refusal to work with SWRJB was a violation of the Act.

Resolutions introduced in House and Senate to block NLRB election rules

On Thursday, February 16, legislation was introduced in both chambers of the U.S. Congress that would, if enacted, block the recently announced changes to the NLRB’s election processes. House Education and the Workforce Chairman John Kline (R-Minn) and Representatives Phil Gingrey (R-Ga) and Phil Roe (R-Tenn) introduced H.J. Res. 103 in the House under the Congressional Review Act, and Senators Mike Enzi (R-Wyo) and Johnny Isakson (R-Ga) introduced a companion resolution (S.J. Res. 63) in the Senate.

On December 21, 2011, the NLRB finalized a number of previously introduced amendments to its election procedures, and Chairman Mark Gaston Pearce has indicated that he hopes to finalize the remaining amendments to the procedures this year. The changes were vociferously opposed by Congressional Republicans and, under the CRA, the Republicans could block the reforms. The CRA gives House or Senate joint resolutions, if approved, the force of law to prevent an agency rule from taking effect. Senate resolutions only need to be passed by a simple majority if acted upon within 60 days of introduction, and cannot be filibustered. Given the current Democratic majority in the Senate, it is unlikely, although not impossible, that the Resolution will pass. The House version is almost certain to pass. Should both chambers pass the resolution, it would almost certainly be vetoed by President Obama.

Senator Enzi has argued that the changes reform a system that was working. “It is important to note that the current system is not broken,” he said in a statement. “Unions already win more than 70 percent of secret ballot elections, and the median time period from petition-filing to election is just 38 days . . . There is no justification for ambushing employers with elections in as few as 10 days.”

Representative George Miller (D-Calif), the ranking member on the House Education and the Workforce Committee, countered that the reforms are needed to prevent “frivolous litigation” that delays secret ballot elections. Miller called the reforms “modest steps” and accused his Republican colleagues of trying to “to defund the agency…and take away any effective remedies the NLRB can use to enforce laws protecting workers from retaliation, and [interference] with ongoing enforcement actions.”

The election rule is slated to take effect on April 30, 2012.

NLRB considering pilot program that would consolidate regional offices in Missouri, Kansas

The NLRB has announced that it is considering a pilot program that would consolidate regional offices in St. Louis, Missouri (Region 14) and Kansas City, Kansas (Region 17). Under the program, the Board’s sub-regional office in Peoria, Illinois, would be moved from the jurisdiction of the St. Louis office to that of the regional office in Indianapolis, Indiana (Region 25). The program would not result in office closures, but staff in the newly consolidated region would report to a single regional director.

The Board is taking pains to assure all interested parties that it is not moving hastily. Acting General Counsel Lafe Solomon will consider input from agency staff and from external stakeholders, including practitioners, members of the management-labor relations community, and members of Congress before making a final decision about whether to go ahead with the program. Before any permanent structural change would occur, it would first need to proceed through the Board’s rulemaking process.

Solomon is expected to announce his final decision in early April. At that time, he is also expected to announce his final decision regarding a pilot program related to the previously announced potential consolidation of Regions 10 and 11 (Atlanta and Winston-Salem, NC), about which a similar process was already undertaken.

LEADING CASE NEWS

DCCir: Employer’s execution of settlement agreement agreeing to recognize and bargain with union established Sec. 9(a) relationship

An employer was denied its petition to review an NLRB order finding that its bargaining relationship with a union was premised on NLRA Sec. 9(a), not a prehire agreement pursuant to Sec. 8(f) (Allied Mechanical Services, Inc v NLRB, February 17, 2012, Edwards, H). Finding that substantial evidence, reasoned decision-making, and established case law supported the Board, the District of Columbia Circuit agreed that the employer’s execution of a settlement agreement in which it agreed to recognize and bargain in good faith with the union as the exclusive bargaining representative of unit employees established a Sec. 9(a) relationship.

Background. This dispute arose out of a campaign by the Plumbers’ Union to organize the employer’s plumbing and pipefitting employees. After the union asserted that it represented a majority of the company’s employees, the union demanded recognition, and offered to give proof of its majority status to a third party. However, the employer declined to recognize the union, prompting the General Counsel to issue a complaint against the company and seek a Gissel bargaining order. The employer once again demanded proof of the union’s majority status. Subsequently, it signed a settlement agreement approved by the Board, and the complaint was withdrawn.

Following the settlement, 10 employees engaged in an economic strike. Nine of the strikers eventually made unconditional offers to return to work, but the employer refused to reinstate them. The employer also declined to hire four applicants because of their union affiliation. Again, charges were filed with the NLRB, and a complaint was issued. The Board found that the employer acted unlawfully and ordered reinstatement of the strikers. Still more problems arose between the employer and union, giving rise to additional litigation. The union alleged that it had been the Sec. 9(a) representative of unit employees since the settlement agreement, and the employer had committed multiple violations of the NLRA. The employer denied that the union was a Sec. 9(a) representative and insisted it had not violated the Act. Ultimately, the Board found that the employer unlawfully refused to bargain, but made no explicit finding whether the parties’ relationship was governed by Sec. 8(f) or Sec. 9(a).

Following a merger between two unions in 2004, the NLRB found that the new union did not succeed to the bargaining rights of its predecessor and thus, the employer was not required to bargain with the new union. The Board also declined to determine whether the relationship between the employer and union was governed by Sec. 8(f) or Sec. 9(a). In 2007, the Board revised its initial decision, finding that the absence of a vote on the merger did not permit the employer to withdraw recognition. The Board also determined that the employer had a Sec. 9(a) bargaining relationship with the union because of the settlement agreement, among other reasons. Consequently, the Board ruled that the employer acted unlawfully when it unilaterally changed its job application procedures, refused to furnish information to the union, and withdrew recognition.

Bargaining relationship. The question before the appeals court was whether the relationship between the employer and union was governed by Sec. 8(f) or Sec. 9(a) of the Act. Under Sec. 9(a), employers are obligated to bargain with unions that have been selected by a majority of bargaining unit employees as their bargaining representative. Section 8(f), on the other hand, creates a limited exception to the majority support requirement for the construction industry. Under this exception, an employer may sign a prehire agreement with a union regardless of how many employees authorized the union’s representation. An employer may refuse to bargain after a Sec. 8(f) agreement expires because the union never enjoyed a presumption of majority support.

In this instance, the employer asserted that it never entered anything more than a Sec. 8(f) relationship with the union, from which it was free to withdraw. The appeals court disagreed. While companies and unions in the construction industry may be parties to Sec. 9(a) bargaining relationships, bargaining relationships in the construction industry are presumed to be covered by Sec. 8(f). However, a union can achieve Sec. 9(a) status through either Board certification or voluntary recognition by the employer. Moreover, the Board can order an employer to bargain with a union as a remedy for the employer’s unfair labor practices where there is a showing that at one point the union had a majority. Once a union achieves Sec. 9(a) status, an employer may not breach its duty to bargain, refuse to provide information, or unilaterally change conditions of employment.

Here, the parties had not established an 8(f) relationship through execution of a prehire agreement before they signed the settlement agreement. Rather, the dispute arose when the union claimed that it had represented a majority of employees, offered to prove its majority status, and demanded recognition. After the employer refused, the union filed unfair labor practice charges. The NLRB issued a complaint that sought a Gissel bargaining order. Rather than litigate the charges, the employer signed the settlement agreement. The Board then relied on the settlement agreement to determine that a Sec. 9(a) relationship existed.

Sec. 8(f) relationship implausible. The appeals court rejected as utterly implausible the employer’s claim that the settlement agreement created a bargaining relationship under Sec. 8(f). The General Counsel could not have premised his complaint against the employer on a charge that the company violated Sec. 8(f), since that provision merely permits unions and employers in the construction industry to enter prehire agreements without having majority support. The settlement agreement had nothing to do with establishing a Sec. 8(f) relationship. Rather, the General Counsel’s complaint was premised on the assumption that the employer was obligated to bargain with a union that had majority status, and so, should be in a Sec. 9(a) relationship with the employer.

Further, on the record, the Board’s decision clearly rested on a showing of majority support for the union. Given that the employer signed an agreement to settle pending unfair labor practice charges after it demanded proof of the union’s majority status, the Board reasonably found a refusal to bargain violation and issued a Gissel bargaining order. The very premise of a Gissel bargaining order is that, because of an employer’s unfair labor practices, it is likely that the union will not be able to show that it maintained its majority support at the time the Board remedies were implemented. Finally, the union’s demand for Sec. 8(f) status during collective bargaining four years after the settlement agreement did not indicate that the agreement was a Sec. 8(f) agreement. Accordingly, the employer’s petition for review was denied, and the Board’s cross-petition for enforcement was granted. 

The case number is 10-1385.

David M. Buday (Miller Johnson) for Employer. Steven B. Goldstein for NLRB.

6thCir: Company run by son was not alter-ego of father’s business

Because a fire protection company did not have a substantially similar management structure, operations, or equipment as a sprinkler company run by the owner’s father, the first company was not an alter-ego of the second, the Sixth Circuit has ruled in affirming summary judgment for the employers (Road Sprinkler Fitters Local Union No 669 v Dorn Sprinkler Co, February 28, 2012, McKeague, D). The appeals court noted that the operations of the two companies were not strongly related, the son’s company acquired his father’s equipment through arms-length purchases, and the overlap of equipment between the companies was insubstantial, the customer base of the two companies varied substantially, and there was no evidence of an intent on the part of the two companies to avoid the effect of a collective bargaining agreement.

Dorn Sprinkler began operations in May 1977 and the owner, David Dorn, handled the daily operations. During the 1990’s, Dorn’s son, Christopher, who was Dorn Sprinkler’s lead salesman, formed his own company, Dorn Fire Protection, Inc, although he did not, at that time, begin doing business. Dorn Fire Protection began doing business in late 2006. Soon thereafter, Dorn Sprinkler failed to make required payments to its employees’ benefit funds, resulting in a work stoppage that rendered the company unable to continue doing business. Dorn Sprinkler went out of business in March 2007, did not make its required payments, and refused to arbitrate grievances over the matter contending that it had gone out of business. The union then submitted its request to arbitrate the grievances to Dorn Fire Protection, claiming that it was an alter ego of Dorn Sprinkler. The union brought the instant suit to recover losses from the breach of Dorn Sprinkler to its pension obligations. The district court granted summary judgment to the employers, finding that Dorn Fire Protection was not the alter ego of Dorn Sprinkler.

The Sixth Circuit affirmed the district court’s ruling. Although the court noted that both companies installed automatic fire-protection systems for construction projects in the same location, it found that they had different management structures. While the management of both companies involved David and Christopher Dorn and David’s daughter, Amy, all three individuals served in different roles. Christopher was the owner and president of Dorn Fire Protection, but did not perform a management role for Dorn Sprinkler. David was the owner of Dorn Sprinkler, but served only as a consultant for Dorn Fire Protection. Amy, who was a bookkeeper for both companies, did not serve in a management capacity for either. Thus, the court found that despite the familial ties, the companies had substantially different management structures.

Additionally, the court found that the companies did not share operations. To the contrary, when Dorn Fire Protection began operations, it was a competitor to Dorn Sprinkler and pursued its own clients and employees. Furthermore, when Dorn Sprinkler ceased operations, only two of Dorn Fire Protection’s 14 employees had ever worked for Dorn Sprinkler, “showing no real continuity of work force.”

The court also found that the company’s equipment was not substantially the same. The union argued that Dorn Fire Protection obtained much of Dorn Sprinkler’s equipment through a swap of tools and noted that there was no bill of sale for some of the equipment that went from Dorn Sprinkler to Dorn Fire Protection. The court, however, found that Dorn Fire Protection got the equipment after Dorn Sprinkler went out of business and, therefore, Dorn Fire Protection began its operation with its own tools, not tools owned in common with Dorn Sprinkler.

Lastly, the court held that the companies had different customer bases. Only nine of Dorn Fire Protection’s 250 customers had previously been with Dorn Sprinkler. Furthermore, when Dorn Sprinkler ceased operations, Dorn Fire Protection completed only two of Dorn Sprinkler’s outstanding projects and refused to pick up a third, even as other companies picked up that work. Such circumstances, the court held, suggested that Dorn Fire Protection was not Dorn Sprinkler’s alter ego. Therefore, the court ruled that Dorn Fire Protection was under no obligation to process grievances brought against Dorn Sprinkler.

The case number is 10-4368.

David Marvin Cook (Cook, Portune & Logothetis) for Union. Amy Marie Miller-Mitchell (Greenebaum, Doll & McDonald) for Employers.

DAlaska: Regional Director’s request for injunctive relief granted; Sheraton Hotel must recognize and bargain with union

The Sheraton Hotel in Anchorage, Alaska must recognize and bargain with UNITE HERE Local 878, its employees’ union of more than 30 years, after two years of increasingly tense relations marked by a host of egregious unfair labor practice conduct by the hotel, according to the NLRB (Ahearn v Remington Lodging and Hospitality, dba The Sheraton Anchorage, February 2, 2012, Burgess, T). A federal district court in Alaska granted the Board’s request for injunctive relief against the hotel chain, amid allegations of unlawful suspension and discharge of union supporters, unilateral changes in the employees’ terms and conditions of employment, prematurely declaring impasse in negotiations, and withdrawing recognition.

The court ordered the hotel to cease the unlawful activity, restore all prior contract terms, and enter into negotiations with the union if requested. The order must be read to employees by a high-level company official, in English and Spanish, or by an NLRB employee in the hotel official’s presence.

The NLRB Acting General Counsel has issued three complaints against the hotel, owned by Remington Lodging and Hospitality, since the dispute began in the summer of 2009, when the previous labor contract with UNITE HERE Local 878 was due to expire. According to the complaints, the hotel prematurely declared negotiations had reached impasse and unilaterally changed the number of rooms to be cleaned per shift, eliminated paid meal breaks, and changed health insurance providers. When workers presented hotel managers with a boycott petition, several were suspended or fired (though they were later reinstated.) Hotel managers also unlawfully coerced employees into signing a petition to decertify the union, then ceased recognition and stopped making payments to its pension plan.

Two of the Board complaints have been tried before a law judge; the third is pending a hearing, currently scheduled for later this month. The district court found the NLRB would likely succeed on the merits of the ongoing proceedings, and that failure to issue an injunction would cause irreparable harm to the hotel’s employees and to the public interest. Thus, the preliminary injunction will remain in effect until the NLRB’s proceedings are complete.

The case number is 3:11-cr-00240-TMB.

Susannah Merritt for NLRB. Peter Glenn Fischer (Stokes Roberts & Wagner) for Employer.

Hot Topics in WAGES HOURS
Wage and Hour Division announces plans to re-propose child labor reg

The DOL’s Wage and Hour Division has announced that it will re-propose the section of its agriculture child labor regulation interpreting the “parental exemption.” The re-proposal stems in part from requests from the public and members of Congress that the agency allow an opportunity for more input on this aspect of the rule. 

The parental exemption allows children of any age who are employed by their parent or guardian, to perform any job on a farm owned or operated by that individual. The DOL’s re-proposal process will seek comments and input as to how the DOL can comply with statutory requirements to protect children, while also respecting rural traditions. The DOL hopes to publish the re-proposed section for public comment by early summer, and will continue to review the comments received regarding the remaining portions of the proposed rule for inclusion in a final rule. Until the DOL finalizes the revised exemption, it will apply the parental exemption to situations in which the parent or guardian is only a part owner of a farm, a partner in a partnership or an officer of a corporation that owns a farm, if the ownership interest in the partnership or corporation is substantial. 

Wage and Hour Division enters into memorandum of understanding with Louisiana Workforce Commission regarding employee misclassification

On Thursday, February 23, Nancy J. Leppink, the DOL’s Wage and Hour Division Deputy Administrator, and Louisiana Workforce Commission Executive Director Curt Eysink signed a memorandum of understanding (MOU) regarding employee misclassification. The partnership is the 13th of its kind into which the DOL has entered as it cracks down on employee misclassification.

Leppink called the MOU “an important step toward making sure that the American dream is still available for employees and responsible employers alike.” In 2011, the division collected over $5 million in back-pay for FLSA minimum wage and overtime violations that resulted from employees being misclassified as independent contractors or otherwise not treated as employees. 

Memoranda of understanding with state government agencies arose as part of the DOL’s Misclassification Initiative, launched under the auspices of Vice President Biden’s Middle Class Task Force. Its goal is to prevent, detect and remedy employee misclassification. California, Colorado, Connecticut, Hawaii, Illinois, Maryland, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Missouri, Montana, Utah and Washington have signed similar agreements. More information is available on the DOL’s misclassification website at http://www.dol.gov/misclassification.

Model FMLA Forms approved through 2015

The DOL’s Wage and Hour Division (WHD) has received approval from the Office of Management and Budget to continue using the WHD’s FMLA model forms with no changes. The approval extends to Feb. 28, 2015. These forms had expired as of Dec. 31, 2011.

The forms that have been updated are as follows:

· WH-380-E: Certification of Health Care Provider for Employee’s Serious Health Condition 

· WH-380-F: Certification of Health Care Provider for Family Member’s Serious Health Condition 

· WH-381: Notice of Eligibility and Rights & Responsibilities 

· WH-382: Designation Notice 

· WH-384: Certification of Qualifying Exigency For Military Family Leave 

· WH-385: Certification for Serious Injury or Illness of Covered Servicemember -- for Military Family Leave

Wage and Hour division extends comment period for proposed rule on extending wage protections to in-home care service providers

The DOL’s Wage and Hour Division has announced that it has extended the comment period for its proposed rule that would extend minimum wage and overtime protections to almost two million in-home care service providers. The comment period has been extended by 14 days and will now end on Monday, March 12.

Under the FLSA, workers classified as “companions” are currently exempt from minimum wage and overtime pay requirements. When the exemptions were first created, in 1974, they were intended to apply to casual babysitters and companions for the elderly and infirm. The DOL’s proposed rule notes that the exemptions were not supposed to apply to workers who choose in-home care service as a vocation and would, if enacted, grant the exemption to households where the services are provided; it would not grant the exemption to third-party staffing agencies.

Specifically, the proposed rule would expand minimum wage and overtime protections and would ensure that all home care workers employed by third parties such as staffing agencies receive these protections. The rule would also clarify that individuals performing skilled in-home care work are entitled to minimum wage and overtime pay. The rule also states that individuals engaged by families for true companionship or fellowship activities still would be considered “companions,” and the families would not be required to meet the FLSA’s provisions. Interested parties can learn more about the rule at http://www.dol.gov/whd/flsa/companionNPRM.htm.

The DOL first published a notice of proposed rulemaking in the Federal Register on December 27, 2011, and the comment period was initially supposed to end on February 27, 2012. Although President Obama announced the rule on December 15, thus giving the public more time than the standard 60-day period to comment on the proposal, members of Congress and the public have asked for an extension of the comment period. Individuals and organizations that have already submitted comments may use the extension period to revise or add to their original comments.

DOL’s Wage and Hour Division to publish notice of proposed rulemaking affecting FMLA’s military leave provisions

On Wednesday, February 15, the DOL’s Wage and Hour Division will publish a notice of proposed rulemaking in the Federal Register that seeks to revise FMLA regulations by implementing amendments to the Act’s military leave provisions.

The proposed rule would implement amendments extending the entitlement of military caregiver leave to family members of veterans for up to five years after leaving the military; currently, only family members of service members who are currently serving are covered. The regulatory revisions would also expand the FMLA’s military family leave provisions by extending qualifying exigency leave to employees whose family members serve in the regular armed forces. Currently, only families of National Guard members and reservists are covered.

The proposed rule would also implement amendments that make FMLA benefits more accessible for airline flight crew employees by adding a special hours-of-service eligibility requirement for them. It would also add specific rules for calculating the amount of FMLA leave used, which better takes into account the unique hours worked by crew members.

White House unveils proposed 2013 budget; DOL outlines details of its funding request

The Department of Labor today outlined its part of President Obama’s FY 2013 budget request to Congress, which, it said, focuses on efficiently achieving the department's goals while exercising fiscal restraint. Calling it “a make or break moment for the middle class,” Labor Secretary Hilda L. Solis noted the agency sought $12.0 billion in discretionary funding while also providing for “responsible and reasonable cuts” in light of current economic realities and an increased focus on efficiency.

WHD. The FY 2013 budget request seeks nearly $238 million to fund the Wage and Hour Division, including a specific request for $10 million for grants to states to combat worker independent contractor misclassification and recover unpaid taxes, and an additional $4 million to hire personnel to investigate misclassification, and other violations of the FLSA and FMLA. The proposed budget would further assist workers who need to take time off to care for a child or other family member by helping states launch paid leave programs. Although a handful of states have en¬acted policies to offer paid family leave, the DOL contends that more states should follow their example. To that end, the 2013 budget supports a $5 million State Paid Leave Fund within DOL to provide tech¬nical assistance and support to states that are considering paid-leave programs.

PBGC. The budget also reflects the goal of strengthening the defined benefit pension system by authorizing the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corp. board to adjust premiums and directing the PBGC to take into account the risks that different sponsors pose to their retirees and to the PBGC itself. “This action will encourage companies to fully fund their pension benefits and ensure the continued financial soundness of the PBGC. It is estimated that this proposal will save $16 billion over the next decade.” The 2013 budget would fund the establishment of a system of automatic workplace pensions and double the small employer pension plan start-up credit.

Other features. The DOL’s 2013 budget also requests $106.4 million for the OFCCP and $41.7 million for the Office of Labor Management Standards. 

The budget request also proposes numerous cost-saving measures, including the consolidation of regional offices for OSHA, EBSA, the Women’s Bureau, the Office of the Solicitor, and the Office of Public Affairs. In addition, the DOL budget request seeks funding to continue past efforts to enhance program effectiveness and improve efficiency. These initiatives include a minimum $9 million investment in program evaluations to be overseen by the chief evaluation officer. The DOL requests continued authority to set aside funds from major program accounts for an increased number of evaluations.

DOL announces final rule on H-2B guest-worker program tightening restrictions on hiring and treatment of guest workers

Under a final rule, scheduled to be published in the February 21 edition of the Federal Register, the use of foreign guest-workers in the United States would be more heavily regulated, the guest workers themselves would be afforded far greater protections and U.S. workers would have greater access to jobs currently performed by guest workers. Fact sheets for the new rule, which goes into effect on April 23, 2012, are available.

The DOL’s Employment and Training Administration and Wage and Hour Division announced the final rule aimed at improving its H-2B temporary nonagricultural worker program. The H-2B program allows foreign workers to enter the United States on a temporary basis when qualified U.S. workers are not available to perform certain tasks, and the employment of those foreign workers will not adversely affect the wages and working conditions of U.S. workers. Under the program, no more than 66,000 visas are awarded each year. For the rest of the story, click here.

Wage and Hour Division and California enter into MOU regarding employer misclassification

The DOL has announced that Nancy J. Leppink, Deputy Administrator of the Department of Labor’s Wage and Hour Division, and California Secretary of Labor Marty Morgenstern have entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) dealing with employee misclassification. This partnership is the 12th of its kind for the DOL and, according to Leppink, the MOUs are helping to end the practice.

“This memorandum of understanding helps us send a message: We are standing together with the state of California to end the practice of misclassifying employees,” said Leppink. “This is an important step toward making sure that the American dream is still available for workers and responsible employers alike.”

Employee misclassification is a growing enforcement area for the DOL. In 2011, the Wage and Hour Division collected over $5 million in back wages resulting from employees either being misclassified as independent contractors or otherwise not treated as employees. Victims of the practice are often denied access to benefits and protections, such as employee leave, overtime compensation, and minimum wage pay, to which they are entitled. The DOL has also stressed that misclassification also adversely affects law-abiding business owners.

Memorandums of Understanding with state government agencies arose as part of the DOL’s Misclassification Initiative, which was launched under the auspices of Vice President Biden’s Middle Class Task Force with the goal of preventing, detecting and remedying employee misclassification. Colorado, Connecticut, Hawaii, Illinois, Maryland, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Missouri, Montana, Utah and Washington have signed similar agreements. More information is available on the U.S. Department of Labor’s misclassification website at http://www.dol.gov/misclassification.

Former unpaid intern files wage suit against publisher, plaintiff’s firm Outten & Golden set sights on “intern” status

The Hearst Corporation illegally employs hundreds of unpaid interns, in violation of federal and state wage law, according to a lawsuit filed this week by New York plaintiff’s firm Outten & Golden (Wang v The Hearst Corporation, No. 12 Civ. 0793). The putative class action suit was filed on Wednesday, February 1, in the Southern District of New York on behalf of a former intern at Harper’s Bazaar.

Former intern Xuedan Wang alleged that she regularly worked more than 40 hours per week, and sometimes as many as 55 hours per week, without compensation while working at the magazine last year. The complaint alleges that the publisher’s unpaid interns are not paid minimum wages or overtime for the work they perform, in violation of the FLSA and New York Labor Law. The suit also alleges recordkeeping violations.

“Unpaid interns are becoming the modern-day equivalent of entry-level employees, except that employers are not paying them for the many hours they work,” said Adam T. Klein, an Outten & Golden attorney representing the class. “The practice of classifying employees as ‘interns’ to avoid paying wages runs afoul of federal and state wage and hour laws.”

“By failing to treat interns as employees, Hearst has denied them important rights that the wage and hour laws protect, including the right to unemployment insurance, workers' compensation insurance, social security contributions, and, crucially, the right to earn a fair day's wage for a fair day's work,” added Outten & Golden’s Elizabeth Wagoner.

The firm recently filed another lawsuit on behalf of unpaid interns at Fox Searchlight Pictures, including interns who worked on the film company’s movie productions. That case, Glatt v Fox Searchlight Pictures Inc, No. 11 Civ. 6784, is currently pending before Judge William H. Pauley in the Southern District of New York.

The status of unpaid interns, and their proper classification under the FLSA and other labor laws, has been the focus of Department of Labor enforcement and compliance assistance efforts in recent years. In April 2010, the DOL’s Wage and Hour Division issued Fact Sheet #71, laying out six criteria to guide employers in determining whether interns must be paid minimum wage and overtime under the FLSA. That issuance came on the heels of a report by the Economic Policy Institute proposing that the current system of regulations governing internships needed reform. Internship programs are too loosely regulated through “vague and outdated employment law,” the think tank lamented—and the regulations typically go unenforced.

LEADING CASE NEWS

CalCtApp: Reversing $15 million judgment in bank employees’ favor in class action wage suit, appeals court holds class should not have been certified, (Feb. 6, 2012) 

A class of bank officers who had alleged they were misclassified as exempt outside sales employees under California law saw a $15 million judgment in their favor eviscerated on Monday by a California appeals court (Duran v US Bank National Association, February 6, 2012, Dondero, R). Concluding that the lower court’s trial management plan was “fatally flawed” and deprived the employer of its due process rights, the appeals court reversed the judgment and ordered that the case be decertified on remand. 

The business banking officers (BBOs) had emerged victorious in their California wage suit against USB following a bifurcated bench trial. The class action, brought on behalf of a class of 260 current and former BBOs, alleged the employer misclassified them as exempt sales employees and thus unlawfully denied them overtime pay, in violation of the California Labor Code and Sec. 17200 of California’s Business and Professions Code. Challenging the judgment, the bank argued the suit should not even have been certified as a class action. Moreover, the bank urged, the lower court’s trial management plan prevented it from defending against the individual claims for over 90 percent of the class, thus depriving the employer of its due process rights. The appeals court agreed. 

Procedural history. In phase one of the trial, the court used a random witness group (RWG) as the basis for trying the suit and denied USB’s subsequent motion for judgment based on its claim that the employees should have been required to prove that each and every BBO had been misclassified and worked unpaid overtime. The court remained steadfast in its refusal to hear the testimony of those BBOs presented by the employer to challenge the plaintiffs’ version of the facts, and rejected the employer’s subsequent protests that its due process rights were violated as a result. 

In phase two, numerous USB motions in limine were rejected. The court did, however, grant the plaintiffs’ motion in limine seeking to prevent USB from referencing any evidence regarding liability other than the trial court‘s phase one statement of decision. The plaintiffs’ motion was based on the premise that the court had already determined the entire class was improperly classified as exempt, and therefore, any contrary evidence would be irrelevant and would necessitate undue consumption of time. Also, at trial in phase two, the court prohibited USB from presenting evidence showing that some class members had been classified in nonexempt positions during their tenure with USB. The trial court denied USB’s subsequent motion for new trial, rejecting the employer’s assertions that the court’s refusal to admit non-RWG class member declarations and deposition testimony, and its preclusion of all non-RWG witnesses in USB’s defense case, deprived USB of its constitutional due process right to a fair trial. 

Appeals court reverses. The lower court’s strategy of relying solely on the evidence derived from a 21-person sample to determine class-wide liability and restitution violated principles of due process and resulted in a statistically invalid result, as evidenced by a 43.3 percent margin of error in weekly overtime hours, the appeals court found. Moreover, the court below infringed on USB’s due process rights when it rejected USB‘s efforts to introduce evidence challenging the individual claims of the 239 absent class members. 

The lower court had found authority to support its use of statistical sampling and representative testimony to determine class-wide liability in the California Supreme Court’s ruling in Bell v Farmers Ins Exchange (Bell III). However, “Bell III is manifestly inapposite,” the appeals court wrote. First, the lower court improperly concluded that Bell III’s endorsement of the use of statistical methods to determine damages in wage and hour class actions would apply equally to determining liability. Moreover, the procedures approved in Bell III were only “superficially similar” to the procedures utilized in the present case. Also problematic: the court did not follow established statistical procedures when it adopted its RWG-based trial methodology. 

Further, neither state nor federal law supports the use of representative sampling used by the trial court below. Several state and federal wage and hour class action cases support USB’s proposition that surveying, sampling, and statistics are not valid methods of determining liability because representative findings can never be reasonably extrapolated to absent class members in misclassification claims given that time spent performing exempt tasks may differ between employees. Moreover, while the case at hand was pending, the U.S. Supreme Court issued its opinion in Wal-Mart Stores, Inc v Dukes, reversing certification of a class consisting of 1.5 million female employees who claimed they had suffered discriminatory treatment. In so ruling, the High Court found representative sampling studies did not justify certification. “The same type of Trial by Formula that the U.S. Supreme Court disapproved of in Wal-Mart is essentially what occurred in this case,” the state appeals court wrote. 

Moreover, the trial court exceeded acceptable due process parameters by limiting the presentation of evidence of liability to the testifying BBOs only. “Fundamental due process issues are implicated not only by the unprecedented and inconsistent use of statistical procedures in the liability and damages phases, but also by the manner in which USB was hobbled in its ability to prove its affirmative defense.” The employer here was barred from introducing “manifestly relevant evidence” that could have greatly mitigated the damages awarded and possibly even defeated the class claim entirely. Thus, the lower court’s error in refusing to admit USB’s relevant evidence was also prejudicial: there is a reasonable probability that in the absence of the error, USB would have received a more favorable result. “Fundamentally,” the appeals court wrote, “the issue here is not just that USB was prevented from defending each individual claim but also that USB was unfairly restricted in presenting its defense to class-wide liability.” 

Finally, the results obtained in the present case were so unreliable as to render the judgment unconstitutional. Setting aside issues of whether the sampling method was invalid as a means of proving liability — and citing the 43.3 percent margin of error — the appeals court found a due process violation was clearly implicated where, as here, the method for determining restitution has the potential to increase a defendant‘s aggregate liability by close to double that which would be warranted if the low end of the margin were applied. 

On remand… Concluding that the trial court erred in denying USB’s second motion to decertify the class, the appeals court ordered the class to be decertified on remand. The court also remanded the named plaintiffs’ meal and rest break period violation claims for reconsideration “in light of the Supreme Court‘s soon-to-be-issued ruling in Brinker Restaurant Corp v Superior Court.” 

The case numbers are A125557 and A126827.

Ellen Lake (Wynne Law Firm) for Employee. Timothy M. Freudenberger (Carlton DiSante & Freudenberger LLP) for Employer.

9thCir: Georgia’s presumption of independent contractor status if designated by contract runs counter to California’s presumption of employment relationship, fundamental policy of protecting workers

Vacating a ruling in favor of a home delivery company in a putative class action filed by drivers who alleged they were misclassified as independent contractors, the Ninth Circuit held that a district court erred in applying Georgia law in determining the drivers’ employment status (Ruiz v Affinity Logistics Corp, February 8, 2012, Pregerson, H). The lower court overlooked key elements of California’s choice-of-law provision when it failed to consider whether applying Georgia law was contrary to fundamental California policy and whether California had a greater interest in the outcome of the dispute. Because the appeals court, in considering these factors, ruled in the affirmative on both counts, the district court was instructed to apply California law to determine whether the drivers were employees or independent contractors.

Background. Affinity Logistics provides home delivery and transportation logistical support services to various home furnishing retailers. Individuals who wanted to work as drivers for Affinity had to enter into an “Independent Truckman’s Agreement” and an equipment lease agreement with the company. The agreements expressly stated that the parties were entering into an independent contractor relationship, and also that Georgia law applied to any disputes that arose between them. 

An Affinity driver filed a putative class action, alleging that the company violated the FLSA and state law by, among other things, failing to pay overtime and other wages, improperly charging them for workers’ compensation insurance, and wrongfully classifying its drivers. The district court granted partial summary judgment on the employees’ federal and state overtime claims; it denied summary judgment on the remaining claims, however, because they turned on the disputed issue of whether the employees were independent contractors or employees.

Georgia law. Applying California’s choice-of-law provision, the trial court first held that Georgia law should be applied pursuant to the parties’ agreements. California courts enforce choice-of-law provisions in private agreements when the chosen state has a substantial relationship to the parties or the underlying dispute. Because Affinity was incorporated in Georgia and had its principal office there, the court found a substantial relationship existed. Therefore, it enforced the contractual choice-of-law provision and applied Georgia law to resolve the independent contractor issue.

After a bench trial, the court ruled that the drivers were independent contractors. Under Georgia law, if an independent contractor relationship is established by contractual agreement, that designation is presumed to be true unless contrary evidence is introduced to show the existence of an employment relationship. Looking to common-law factors, and the fact that the drivers were entitled to hire their own employees to make the contracted-for deliveries, the court found the presumption of independent contractor status had not been rebutted here.

California policy. On appeal, the employee argued that the district court erroneously applied Georgia law based on California’s choice of law framework. The Ninth Circuit agreed. While the lower court properly found that Georgia had a substantial relationship to the parties, its inquiry should not have ended there, the appeals court noted. The trial court should have also determined: (1) whether applying Georgia law was contrary to a fundamental policy of California; and (2) whether California had a materially greater interest in resolution of the issue in dispute. Considering these added steps, the appeals court found they both weighed in favor of the application of California law.

First, Georgia law’s presumption of independent contractor status if contractually designated by the parties ran counter to fundamental California policy, which presumes an employment relationship once a plaintiff presents evidence that he has provided services for an employer. “[T]he starting point from which the drivers begin their lawsuit is vastly different depending on whether California or Georgia law applies,” the appeals court wrote. “In essence, the drivers are at a disadvantage under Georgia law because they must overcome the presumption that they are independent contractors. By contrast, under California law, the presumption is that the drivers are employees and the burden is upon Affinity to demonstrate that the drivers are independent contractors. As such, Georgia law directly conflicts with California law.”

Additionally, Georgia law conflicts with a fundamental California policy of protecting its workers, and the state’s requirement that courts take into consideration protective legislation designed to aid employees when deciding the employee-independent contractor issue.

Finally, California has a materially greater interest than Georgia in the outcome of the case. The parties entered into the contract in California; the drivers performed their work in California; the subject matter of the contract dealt with completing deliveries in California; and the drivers were domiciled in California. On the other hand, the only connection with Georgia was that Affinity was incorporated there. Moreover, the employer produced no evidence that Georgia had a material interest in the resolution of this case, and it failed to explain how Georgia would suffer if California law were used to determine whether the drivers were employees or independent contractors.

The case number is 10-55581.

Elic Anbar (Law Offices of Elic Anbar) for Employees. James H. Hanson (Scopelitis, Garvin, Light, Hanson & Feary, PC) for Employer.

4thCir: Despite inability to work overtime, employee who could work 40-hour week not substantially limited in major life activity; cannot demonstrate disability under ADA

An individual who was medically restricted from working overtime, but could work a normal 40 hour workweek, was not substantially limited in a major life activity under the ADA, ruled the Fourth Circuit (Boitnott v Corning, Inc, February 10, 2012, Gergel, R). The employee was not significantly restricted from working in class of jobs or a broad range of jobs in various classes, and therefore, the appeals court affirmed summary judgment in favor of Corning on the employee’s pre-amendment ADA reasonable accommodations claim. 

Background. As a maintenance engineer, the employee worked rotating 12 hours shifts and alternated between two weeks of day shifts and two weeks of night shifts. This schedule was a typical employee schedule, which according to the company was designed to promote efficiency. Initially, the employee went on a medical leave due to abdominal problems, but the house of cards began to fall on his medical condition. Thereafter, he had a heart attack, extending his leave. When he finally returned to his 12 hour shifts, he experienced medical problems, necessitating a further leave. Later, he was diagnosed with leukemia, although no treatment was recommended. 

Could work eight hours. Several months later, the employee advised Corning that he could return to work, but was limited to working no more than eight hours per day. In response, the employer suggested that he was not disabled because he could work a regular 40 hour work week and a normal eight hour day. Instead of returning to the 12 hour shift, the employee applied for and received long term disability benefits and filed a discrimination charge with the EEOC, alleging that the employer had failed to provide reasonable accommodations since his efforts to return to work. After the disability carrier concluded he could work a class of jobs, his benefits were terminated, and the employee sought work with Corning in day shift positions, but each job required 10 hour shifts plus some overtime. Because the employee had medically restricted to eight hour shifts, Corning indicated that he was not eligible for any position, but he could let the company know if his medical condition changed.

In fact, one of the employee’s treating physician’s did release him to work longer days, suggesting that he could work four 10 hour days, without provision for overtime. Thereafter, another healthcare provider provided a new certification that indicated he could work 10 hours per day plus “moderate” overtime. After the restrictions were lifted, the company and the union set about creating a solution for the employee. Although none of the day shifts were available, Corning created a new position in the maintance department, limited to the day shift, which would be an eight hour shift with some overtime. While he was not on active status, the employee was permitted to apply for the position when it was posted, and when the posting expired, he was hired for the position, and remains employed there. 

Work a major life activity. In considering whether the employee could maintain his suit, the Fourth Circuit addressed the issue of whether work constitutes a major life activity. While the ADAAA resolved that question directly by adding working to the general definition of major life activities, during the pre-amendment period court’s were left to grapple with the definition, guided by the US Supreme Court in Sutton v United Airlines, Inc. In that case, the High Court reasoned that when all else fails, lower courts can consider whether the employee’s impairments substantially limit his ability to work. In so doing, the Fourth Circuit cautioned that the inability to perform a single job does not constitute a substantial limitation. Rather, an employee must demonstrate that he is restricted from either a class of jobs or a broad range of jobs in various classes, as compared to similar individuals with comparable skills, training and ability. 

Not substantially limited. Consequently, relying on Sutton, the appeals court addressed whether the employee’s impairments substantially limited his ability to work, given that he would work 40 hour work weeks but no overtime. Drawing on precedent from sister circuits, the Fourth Circuit reasoned that if an employee can work a 40 hour workweek, he is not substantially limited in the major life activity of working, even if he is incapable of performing overtime due to impairment. Thus, while the employee’s inability to work might constitute impairment of a major life activity under Sutton, he was not substantially limited in that major life activity because he could work a 40 hour workweek. 

Furthermore, there was no evidence to support a finding that the employee’s inability to work overtime significantly restricted his ability to perform either a class of jobs or a broad range of various classes, compared to others similarly situated. Because the employee was not substantially limited in a major life activity, he was not disabled under the ADA, and the district court properly granted the employer summary judgment on the employee’s ADA claim. 

The case number is 10-1769.

Terry Neill Grimes (Grimes & Williams, PC) for Employee. Stephen Morse (LeClairryan, PC) for Employer. 

7thCir: Trial court abused discretion in finding majority of hours billed unnecessary, automatically reducing hourly rate in FLSA retaliation suit

Reversing a district court’s reduced attorney fee award and the lower court’s finding that much of the time billed in a wage action was unnecessary, the Seventh Circuit remanded for a recalculation of fees and costs (Johnson v GDF, Inc dba Domino’s Pizza, February 13, 2012, Tinder, J). The appeals court rejected the notion that the case could have been promptly resolved if plaintiff’s counsel had properly assessed and disclosed at the outset his client’s actual damages. Moreover, the lower court was not required to apply a lower rate to FLSA cases than Title VII actions.

Background. An employee at a Domino’s Pizza franchise filed a class-action overtime complaint in state court under the Illinois Minimum Wage Law. After he was fired, he filed this action in federal court claiming that he was terminated in retaliation for filing the state court action, in violation of the FLSA. During the opening statement at trial, plaintiff’s counsel changed the employee’s position on damages, now claiming only $1,000 in back pay, noting for the first time that the employee had secured employment at a higher rate of pay three weeks after his termination. Nevertheless, the plaintiff prevailed and the jury awarded him damages. Plaintiff’s counsel then moved for attorneys’ fees and costs in excess of $112,000 under the FLSA.

Given the limited back pay at issue, and counsel’s high hourly rate, the district court reasoned that counsel should have explored settlement before filing suit. However, plaintiff’s counsel failed to disclose the true value of the case until his opening statement at trial, thereby foregoing any real opportunity for the case to settle. Consequently, the lower court awarded only four hours of fees — the amount of time it would take to have settled a case where only $1,000 of back pay was at issue — and disallowed any fees for associates’ time. The remaining 190 billed hours were unnecessary, the court found.

Hours billed. The employer argued that the case would have settled quickly if the employee had only revealed that the true value of his claim for back pay was $1,000 and not $10,000. However, the employer had not been left in the dark, the appeals court found. A deposition made by the employee in the state law case disclosed that he had found another position within 10 weeks of his discharge. In fact, the deposition revealed that the employee had secured three jobs since he was fired. It also revealed that the employee had previous criminal convictions that he failed to disclose when he applied to work at Domino’s. Therefore, the employer also knew that the potential backpay period could go no further than the date of the employee’s deposition, when the after-acquired evidence effectively cut off much of his potential recovery.

While the employer objected that it didn’t know the employee’s actual pay rate at his new jobs, and thus didn’t know enough to accurately measure his claim, the appeals court noted that “the defendant is charged with having some common sense.” The employee had gone from making pizzas to driving a cab, and his backpay claim could span only a few months at most. Thus, the record did not support the employer’s insistence that his small backpay claim caught it unawares.

Moreover, even after the employer lost at trial, it continued its fight with a post-verdict motion for judgment as a matter of law and an appeal, the Seventh Circuit observed. While the employer did offer to “settle everything” for $25,000 just before the state court trial was scheduled to begin, the employee considered and rejected the offer, a decision that “was reasonable enough given the possibility that he might (and did) recover liquidated and punitive damages in the federal case.” The employer knew approximately what it was up against and yet, proceeded to trial without any offer of judgment or any concession of liability. Essentially, the employer had “tested its luck and lost,” and now it had to pay for the attorney hours reasonably required to see the case through to trial, the appeals court held.

Hourly rate. The district court concluded that plaintiff’s counsel had not established his actual billing rate, which he claimed was $600 per hour, because he did not present evidence of how much he was actually paid. The lower court then looked to the next-best evidence to determine his market rate. In doing so, the court disregarded counsel’s third-party affidavits because the affiants declared that they do not bill at different rates for FLSA and Title VII cases. The billing rates for these cases must be different, the district court reasoned; other judges in the district have determined that FLSA cases are less complex than Title VII cases, and the appeals court has so noted as well. But “it was an abuse of discretion for the district court to decide that the market must distinguish between FLSA and Title VII cases,” the appeals court found. “Either it does or it doesn’t, but it is not the court’s job to say that it should.” If the market distinguished between FLSA and Title VII retaliation cases, then the employer presumably could have submitted affidavits indicating as much. But it wasn’t enough for the court simply to note that some courts have distinguished these cases and thus, to reject as unpersuasive any affidavits to the contrary.

Moreover, although the district court concluded that counsel did not establish that he was ever awarded a $600 rate in an FLSA case in which his fee was challenged, and thus reduced his rate accordingly, nothing requires that a party show that the hourly rate requested has previously been disputed and upheld. It was an abuse of discretion for the district court to set counsel’s rate by considering only cases where his fees were challenged, the appeals court held.

The case number is 11-1934.

Ernest Thomas Rossiello (Ernest Thomas Rossiello & Associates, PC) for Employee. Vicki Lafer Abrahamson (Abrahamson Vorachek & Levinson) for Plaintiff’s Counsel. Donald S. Rothschild (Goldstine, Skrodzki, Russian, Nemec & Hoff, Ltd) for Employer.

6thCir: FMLA interference and retaliation claims proceed based on refusal to allow employee to visit dying mother; race bias claims fail 

Based on evidence that a supervisor refused to allow a security officer to leave work to see his dying mother and make end-of-life decisions even though he had someone willing to cover his shift, the Sixth Circuit concluded that a trial court erred in granting the employer summary judgment on the employee’s FMLA interference and retaliation claims (Romans v Michigan Department of Human Services, February 16, 2012, McKeague, D). Summary judgment on a reverse race discrimination claim was affirmed, however, because the officer failed to show that a similarly-situated coworker was treated differently.

Background. Under a union agreement, a Caucasian security officer at a juvenile facility could only be terminated for cause. While there were four levels of intervention prior to discharge, including informal counseling, formal counseling, reprimand, and suspension, only the latter two were considered disciplinary actions. During his tenure, the employee was subject to interventions across the spectrum. For example, he was suspended one year for making inappropriate remarks to youths at the facility, including calling one a “bitch” and “slut.” The following year he received three formal counselings in failing to report to work and to work cooperatively. He was again twice suspended the next year, this time for abandoning his shift when he received a call that his mother was dying and for calling his then-friend and coworker a “motherf**r” over the intercom system. Subsequently, he was suspended for failing to follow an order; and later received formal counselings and a written reprimand for misusing the internal workplace complaint system to try to get coworkers and supervisors in trouble. 

An African-American coworker, who was the officer’s friend before the intercom remark, filed a report claiming that the officer harassed him, threatened him, and watched him on the security cameras. The subsequent investigation substantiated all but the physical threats and found that the officer also filed false police reports against the coworker and encouraged female workers to file sexual harassment complaints against him. A second investigation confirmed the findings and the officer was fired for violating the work rules and for having so many active disciplines in his record.

Race discrimination. Reasoning that there was insufficient evidence that the termination was because of his race, the district court granted summary judgment for the employer on the officer’s Title VII claim. While the officer argued that the first investigatory report was direct evidence that race was considered in his discharge because the investigator assumed that his alleged harassment of his coworker was race-based due to the societal history of race relations, the court disagreed. In order to reach that conclusion, an inference about the investigator’s intent was required. Thus, the report was not direct evidence. Even if it was, the officer failed to show that the investigator’s intent could be imputed to the decision-maker. In fact, the decision-maker refused to fire him based on the first report and had a second independent investigation done, which broke any causal chain between the first report and the termination.

Moreover, the officer failed to show circumstantial evidence of discrimination. He alleged that he was disciplined for cursing while his coworkers were not and that, although he and his former friend both filed claims against each other, only he was disciplined. Even if these allegations were true, the appeals court found that the coworkers were not similarly situated. Unlike the officer’s statements over the intercom, there was no evidence that the coworkers’ foul language was overheard by others. As for the disparate reaction to the complaints, the officer’s complaint against his former friend involved harassment of others, and was not comparable to the former friend’s claim that the officer harassed him. The claims involved different conduct and the coworker’s claim was substantiated while the officer’s claim was not. 

Even if the officer established a prima facie case, he could not show that the employer’s legitimate reason for firing him was pretext for discrimination, the court found. He was fired for having accumulated his sixth active discipline by violating four separate work rules with his ongoing harassment of his former friend and coworker. Given his disciplinary history, merely violating one of the rules would have supported dismissal. Further, the employer’s reliance on the investigatory reports was reasonable. Summary judgment in favor of the employer on the Title VII claim was thus affirmed.

FMLA claims. On the other hand, the district court erred in dismissing the employee’s FMLA claim. Under FMLA regulations, an employee is entitled to leave when he is “needed to care for” the family member. Thus, the employee’s FMLA interference claim hinged on whether he was improperly denied leave when he asked to go to the hospital to make a decision on whether to continue his mother’s life support. There was no dispute that the officer had previously submitted paperwork certifying that he was his mother’s health care provider and had power of attorney. When he received the call that his mother was dying, he had planned to leave when his shift ended; however, he was told he would have to work a double shift when a colleague called in sick. He secured a replacement to cover the shift. Although his supervisor refused to give him permission to leave, the employee left work, but soon returned, fearing for his job. Later, he was permitted to leave.

While the district court reasoned that because the officer’s sister was present to care for their mother, the officer was not “needed to care for” his mother, the Sixth Circuit disagreed. The appeals court pointed to a final rule clarifying that the “employee need not be the only individual . . . available to care for the family member.” Further, under the regulations, the officer was also entitled to leave in order “to make arrangements for changes in care.” A decision on whether to continue life support would be such a change, the appeals court noted. In addition, the officer created a fact issue on whether the employer had a legitimate business reason for denying leave, considering that he had a substitute to cover the shift. Consequently, the appeals court reversed the district court’s decision granting summary judgment to the employer on the interference claim.

Similarly, an issue of fact existed on the officer’s retaliation claim, which alleged that his one-day suspension for “abandoning his shift” was retaliation for his exercise of his FMLA rights and that this discipline factored into the decision to fire him. The officer provided evidence that he let management know of the situation and that he had a volunteer ready to fill his post. Thus, the officer raised sufficient facts to show the employer’s reason for the discipline might have been pretext for retaliation.

The case number is 10-2174.

Liisa R. Speaker (Speaker Law Firm, PLLC) for Employee. Jeanmarie Miller (Office of the Michigan Attorney General) for Employer.

6thCir: Employee’s claim for unpaid wages erroneously dismissed based on ruling that he was a salaried employee

A federal district court erred in granting an employer’s motion to dismiss an employee’s claim for unpaid wages after determining that the employee, whose base salary was $125,000 per year, was a salaried employee exempt from the protections of the FLSA, ruled the Sixth Circuit (Orton v Johnny’s Lunch Franchise, LLC, February 21, 2012, Moore, K). The employee sought recovery for a time period when the employer ceased to pay any wages because of financial problems. The burden was on the employer to show that the employee received a predetermined amount at each pay period. If he did not, the employer was required to show by a preponderance of the evidence that its failure to pay him the predetermined amount was proper under exceptions delineated under 29 CFR Sec. 541.602(a). The employer was unable to make such a showing.

Background. The employee was hired as an executive in charge of real estate and site selection. For the first year of his employment, his $125,000 base salary was paid according to plan. Throughout 2008, however, the employer had trouble making its payroll and, in August 2008, it ceased paying the employee any wages, even though he continued to work. On December 1, 2008, the employee was formally laid off, along with other company executives. The employee sued for that period he claims he worked but was not paid.

Finding that the employee was exempt under the FLSA because he was a salaried employee, the district court granted the employer’s motion to dismiss the employee’s wage suit. The trial court reasoned that the withholding of compensation for several months was insufficient to convert a position from salary to hourly. Having concluded that the FLSA claim was not viable, the district court did not address arguments with respect to an individual defendant’s status as an employer. The court also denied the employee’s motion for leave to file a second amended complaint.

While an employer may raise an employee’s status as an exempt employee as an affirmative defense to claims brought under the FLSA, it bears the burden of establishing the affirmative defense by a preponderance of the evidence. In this instance, the district court concluded, and the parties seemed to concede, that the employee’s job was administrative in nature. The court then ruled that the employee was an exempt salaried employee under all three tests of the administrative exemption: (1) duties test; (2) salary-level test; and (3) salary-basis test. Finally, the court concluded that exempt salaried employees have no claim under the FLSA for back wages. The employee challenged the district court’s conclusion on the salary-basis test.

Salary-basis test. The lower court had ruled that the employer’s failure to pay the employee for several months did not convert his job from a salary-based position to an hourly-based position. Relying on the Eleventh Circuit ruling in Nicholson v World Bus Network, Inc, the district court stated that “administrative employees are exempt from coverage within the meaning of the FLSA based on the salary that they were owed under their employment agreements and not based on the compensation they actually received.” However, the Sixth Circuit concluded that the district court’s holding was based on an outdated rule of law.

The relevant FLSA regulation defining the salary-basis test provided, in part, that an employee will be considered to be paid on a “salary basis” if he or she regularly receives a predetermined amount in compensation each pay period, not subject to reduction because of variations in the quality or quantity of the work performed. The test was updated in 2004, when the DOL revised its white-collar regulations. The new regulation focuses on pay received, rather than the terms of the employment agreement.

Under the 2004 regulations, employment agreements are no longer the relevant starting point for whether an employee is paid on a salary basis, noted the appeals court. Thus, the question was not what the employee was owed under his employment agreement, but what compensation he actually received.

Second, the district court neglected to place the burden of establishing the exemption on the employer. Here, the employee clearly alleged that his salary was reduced to zero. It was the employer’s burden to establish that the deduction in his pay was proper. Thus, the appeals court reversed the lower court’s dismissal of the employee’s FLSA claim.

The case number is 10-2044.

David M. Blanchard (Nacht, Roumel, Salvatore, Blanchard & Walker, PC) for Employee. Anthony J. Calamunci (Roetzel & Andress, LPA) for Employer.

7thCir: Denial of class certification for Merrill Lynch brokers challenging disparate impact of teaming and account distribution policies reversed; Wal-Mart holding guided, but did not bar, certification

Guided by Wal-Mart Stores, Inc v Dukes, the Seventh Circuit ruled that a district court erred in denying certification of a class of 700 current and former black brokers employed by Merrill Lynch (McReynolds v Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc, February 24, 2012, Posner, R). The alleged disparate impact for which they sought injunctive relief — the incremental effects of company-wide policies authorizing broker-initiated teaming, and basing account distributions on past success — could most efficiently be determined on a class-wide basis, the appeals court concluded. In so holding, it accepted the plaintiffs’ interlocutory appeal of the order denying its amended motion for class certification, filed nearly a year after its first such request was denied, because the Wal-Mart decision provided a proper basis for a second bite at the apple — as well as welcome guidance as to where on the “company-wide policy versus local discretion” spectrum the plaintiffs’ claims fell.

The plaintiffs challenged Merrill Lynch’s “teaming” and “account distribution” policies. The teaming policy permitted, but did not require, brokers to form teams in which they would share clients, and at least in the plaintiffs’ view, thereby gain certain advantages. Once formed, the team decided whether to admit new members. The brokers chose the team members, not the company’s local managers and directors. Under the account distribution policy, when a broker leaves the company, his or her accounts are distributed to other brokers at the same branch. The recipient is determined by a competition guided by certain company criteria, including revenue generated and number and clients retained. Managers and directors have some discretion with both policies — they can veto a team or supplement the criteria for account distribution.

The plaintiffs sought certification for two purposes: (1) to decide the common issue under Rule 23(c)(4) of whether Merrill Lynch was engaging in practices resulting in a racially disparate impact on class members in violation of Title VII and Sec. 1981; and (2) for injunctive relief pursuant to Rule 23(b)(2). The district court initially denied class certification. Nearly a year later, the plaintiffs filed an amended motion for class certification, which the lower court also denied. The plaintiffs then sought interlocutory appeal from the denial. 

Interlocutory appeal permitted. The employer argued that the interlocutory appeal was untimely because it was not filed within the 14 days prescribed by Rule 23(f), counting from the initial denial of class certification. The Seventh Circuit, after examining questions of whether the 14-day requirement was jurisdictional, Supreme Court precedent, and the nature of appellate courts’ discretion, determined that the plaintiffs’ amended motion for class certification based on the Wal-Mart decision provided a proper reason for the plaintiffs to file an amended motion for class certification and also to permit an interlocutory appeal under the circumstances. This was a case that cried out for interlocutory appeal given the changes in the landscape occasioned by the Wal-Mart opinion, the appeals court observed, in agreement with the court below.

Although the appeals court noted that Wal-Mart seemed a “perverse basis” on which to bring their renewed motion — being generally regarded as favoring defendants — the district court concluded plaintiffs’ counsel had made a strong argument for their renewed motion based on the High Court ruling. However, the court then determined that the circumstances of this case were similar to those in Wal-Mart, and thus denied certification. The lower court thought the case similar to Wal-Mart because Merrill Lynch delegated discretion over decisions that influenced the compensation of all of its 15,000 brokers to 135 “complex directors,” each of whom supervised several of the company’s 600 branch offices, within which brokers exercised a good deal of autonomy, although only within a framework established by the company.

To the extent that Merrill Lynch’s regional and local managers exercised discretion regarding compensation of the brokers whom they supervised, the Seventh Circuit found the case similar to Wal-Mart as well. However, here, the exercise of that discretion was “influenced by the two company-wide policies at issue: authorization to brokers, rather than managers, to form and staff teams; and basing account distributions on the past success of the brokers who are competing for the transfers,” wrote the circuit court. Moreover, account distribution and team participation could impact a broker’s performance evaluation which, under company policy, also influenced the broker’s pay and promotion. These company-wide policies, according to the plaintiffs, exacerbated racial discrimination by brokers. They claimed the teams were like little fraternities and that brokers chose team members who were like themselves.

If the teaming policy caused race discrimination and was not justified by business necessity, it violated Title VII. Further, whether it caused race bias and whether it was nonetheless justified by business necessity were issues common to the entire class, and therefore, appropriate for class-wide certification, held the appeals court. The same was true with regard to account distributions. If, due to racial preference at the team level, black brokers found it hard to join teams, or at least good teams, and thus did not generate as much revenue or attract and retain as many clients as white brokers did, then they would be unable to do well in the competition for account distributions, and a vicious cycle resulted. The spiral effect attributable to company-wide policy and arguably disadvantageous to black brokers presented another question common to the class, as did the question of whether any disparate impact was nonetheless justified by business necessity.

Permitting brokers to form their own teams and prescribing criteria for account distributions that favored those already successful — i.e., brokers who may owe their success to having been invited to join a successful or promising team — were company practices, not procedures that local managers could choose to employ or not at their whim. Therefore, Wal-Mart did not prohibit challenging those policies in a class action. Rather, the Supreme Court’s decision helped “to show on which side of the line that separates a company-wide practice from an exercise of discretion by local managers this case falls,” wrote the circuit court.

Denial of class certification reversed. The issue at this stage, observed the Seventh Circuit, was whether the plaintiffs’ claim of disparate impact was most efficiently determined on a class-wide basis rather than in 700 individual lawsuits. While the use of discretion at the local level was undoubtedly a factor in the differential success of brokers, the district judge exaggerated the impact of this factor on the feasibility and desirability of class action treatment. Although a single proceeding might result in an injunction, it could not resolve class members’ claims — each class member would have to prove his compensation had been adversely affected by the corporate policies, and by how much. Thus, if a claim of disparate impact prevailed in the class-wide proceeding, hundreds of separate trials may be required to determine which class members were actually adversely affected by one or both of the challenged practices, and if so, what loss he sustained. But at least it wouldn’t be necessary in each one of those trials to determine whether the challenged practices were unlawful.

Rule 23(c)(4) provides that “when appropriate, an action may be brought or maintained as a class action with respect to particular issues,” noted the Seventh Circuit. The practices challenged here presented a pair of issues that could most efficiently be determined on a class-wide basis, consistent with that rule. Furthermore, Merrill Lynch was in no danger of being destroyed by a binding class-wide determination that it had committed disparate impact discrimination against 700 brokers, even though an erroneous injunction against its teaming and account distribution policies might disadvantage it in competition with brokerage firms employing similar policies. While the only issue at present was whether to permit class-wide injunctive relief, the appeals court also noted that there may be no common issues as to pecuniary relief and that the stakes in each plaintiffs’ claims were enough to make individual suits feasible. Those determinations would be made in the next phase of litigation.

The Seventh Circuit had “trouble seeing the downside of the limited class action treatment” it believed appropriate here, and thus reversed the lower court’s denial of class certification under Rules 23(b)(2) and (c)(4). 

The case number is 11-3639.

Linda Debra Friedman (Stowell & Friedman, Ltd) for Employees. Allan David Dinkoff (Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP) for Employer.

4thCir: Insurance company must provide coverage to school board for FLSA violations; while unpaid wages were preexisting obligation, liquidated damages and attorneys’ fees constitute covered loss

An insurance company was required to provide coverage under a commercial insurance policy for the wrongful acts of a school board in failing to comply with the FLSA, ruled the Fourth Circuit (Republic Franklin Insurance Co v Albemarle County School Board, February 24, 2012, Niemeyer, P). In reversing a district court ruling, the appeals court concluded that the school board’s failure to comply with the FLSA was a “wrongful act” within the meaning of the policy. It also held that, although unpaid wages would not be a covered loss under the policy because payment of those wages was a preexisting duty, any obligation to pay liquidated damages and attorneys’ fees would cause the board to suffer a loss from a wrongful act covered by the policy.

Background. Six bus drivers and transportation assistants filed an FLSA collective action alleging that the school board had not paid them for work they had performed and failed to pay overtime compensation for hours worked in excess of 40 per week. The board promptly tendered the defense of the action to the insurance company, which had issued it a “commercial package” policy. The insurer agreed to defend the action with a reservation of rights to challenge coverage. It also commenced a declaratory judgment action asserting that it had no duty to defend a school board in an action by school board employees for violations of the FLSA, nor a duty to indemnify the board for any judgment that might be entered against it in the action. The insurer asserted that the FLSA violations were not “wrongful acts” covered by the insurance policy, and that any judgment that might be entered against the board would not impose “losses” on it, as defined in the policy.

Under the terms of the policy, the insurer agreed to “pay for all loss resulting from a claim for a wrongful act to which this insurance applies.” The policy defines “loss” as “any amount which an insured is legally obligated to pay as damages where insurable by law.” Further, the policy defined “wrongful act” as “any breach of duty, neglect, error, omission, misstatement, or misleading statement in the discharge of ‘educational institution’ duties.”

The district court entered judgment in favor of the insurer, holding that the school board’s failure to pay its employees in accordance with the FLSA were not “wrongful acts” covered by the policy because it had a preexisting duty to pay its employees in compliance with the Act. The lower court also determined that any judgment entered against the board would not cause it to sustain a “loss” as defined in the policy, and that the insurer had no duty to defend or indemnify the board. At issue on appeal were two basic questions: (1) whether the underlying FLSA complaint alleged a claim for a wrongful act within the meaning of the policy; and (2) whether liquidated damages and attorneys’ fees arising from FLSA violations were losses covered by the policy.

Wrongful act. The insurer continued to maintain that the school board’s failure to comply with the FLSA could not be a wrongful act because the school board had a preexisting duty to comply with the Act. While the question of whether a preexisting duty existed might be relevant to deciding whether an insured suffers an insurable loss, it cannot be relevant to whether the insured is the subject of a claim for a wrongful act, the Fourth Circuit observed. Every duty breached or violated is necessarily a preexisting duty, and it is the breach or violation of that duty that constitutes a wrongful act; this was precisely how the insurance policy defined a wrongful act, the appeals court noted. The school board’s alleged failures were thus breaches of the duty imposed by the FLSA and, therefore, wrongful acts. By its plain language, the policy covered claims for the wrongful acts alleged in the underlying complaint.

However, while a breach of a preexisting duty to pay is a wrongful act, the resulting obligation to pay back wages may not be a loss resulting from a wrongful act, the appeals court reasoned. Such a loss could only arise if the failure to fulfill the preexisting duty to pay wages caused “damages” apart from back wages not paid. 

“Damages.” The school board conceded that it was obligated to pay back wages and overtime as a preexisting duty that was not the result of its wrongful act in allegedly violating the FLSA. However, it contended that the other financial consequences of its wrongful acts — liquidated damages and attorneys’ fees — were losses covered by the policy. The Fourth Circuit agreed. Liquidated damages and attorneys’ fees were not payable because of any preexisting duty, and so they did meet the policy’s requirement that the losses “result from a claim for a wrongful act.” However, the question still remained whether they would be “damages.”

Here, the appeals court rejected the insurer’s contention that liquidated damages and attorneys’ fees are not damages, but fines and penalties. Controlling Supreme Court precedent in Brooklyn Sav Bank v O’Neill held that liquidated damages authorized by the FLSA were not penalties but compensatory damages “for retention of a workman’s pay which might result in damages too obscure and difficult of proof.” Similarly rejected was the insurer’s argument that liquidated damages were “restitutionary in nature” and therefore not damages. Again, the court pointed to the Supreme Court’s conclusion that liquidated damages were compensatory damages. 

Because the underlying FLSA complaint against the school board asserted claims for liquidated damages and attorneys’ fees, arising not from a preexisting duty but because of the board’s alleged wrongful acts, the appeals court concluded they were damages resulting from a claim for the alleged wrongful act and therefore were covered losses.

The case number is 10-1961.

Annie Kim (Albemarle County Attorney’s Office) for Employer. Elizabeth S. Skilling (Harman, Claytor, Corrigan & Wellman) for Insurer.

8thCir: Employer entitled to judgment as a matter of law on FMLA retaliation claim given dearth of evidence

Although a district court erred when it stated that an employee’s prima facie case was not relevant at trial, the Eighth Circuit nonetheless affirmed the lower court’s ruling granting the employer’s motion for judgment as a matter of law on her FMLA retaliation claim (Sisk v Picture People, Inc, February 28, 2012, Benton, D). After the employer failed to offer a nondiscriminatory reason for its actions, the district court should have inquired into the sufficiency of the employee’s prima facie case and, therefore, it was relevant at trial. However, on de novo review, the appeals court found the employee failed to establish a causal link between her protected activity and her termination.

Background. While at work one day, the photography studio employee began to experience pain in her hip. She left work, went to a hospital, and was placed on leave for a week. Before she could return to work, she required surgery on both her hips and spent more than a week in the hospital. After nearly 11 weeks of leave, the employee returned to work with no restrictions. Several days after she returned, superiors came to the store to conduct training. While there, they met with the employee in the mall’s food court, and expressed concern over her health. One of the superiors indicated that several employees reported that the employee was unable to do her job and that she would not undertake certain required tasks.

The employee contended she felt “badgered” by the superiors, who told her several times that she needed to go back to her doctor and “should consider quitting and reapplying when healthier.” While the employer claimed the employee resigned, the employee alleged she was terminated. Although she admitted that neither superior expressly told her she was fired, she assumed she was terminated based on their comments, including statements that “she was a liability, that Picture People did not have a position for her in her current condition, and that she should resign.”

The employee’s FMLA retaliation case went to trial and, after she presented her case in chief, the district court granted the employer’s motion for judgment as a matter of law. While the employee’s evidence ‘“could be sufficient to establish a prima facie case’” of retaliation, the court noted that she had to make more than just a prima facie showing because the case was at trial, and she failed to do so.

Reasoning flawed. The Eighth Circuit disagreed with the reasoning set forth by the district court. Noting that courts are to employ the McDonnell Douglas burden-shifting framework where there is no direct evidence in an FMLA retaliation case, the appeals court explained that if the employee established a prima facie case, then the employer was obligated to offer its nondiscriminatory reason for the termination. Until the employer does so, the relevant inquiry is the sufficiency of the employee’s prima facie case.

Therefore, assuming an employer fails to articulate a nondiscriminatory reason for its conduct, only three scenarios are possible: the defendant prevails as a matter of law if the court determines that no reasonable jury could find facts constituting a prima facie case; the plaintiff prevails as a matter of law if the court determines that a reasonable jury must find that the plaintiff has established a prima facie case; or, finally, “if reasonable minds could differ as to whether a preponderance of the evidence establishes the facts of a prima facie case, then a question of fact remains, which the trier of fact will be called upon to answer.”

Consequently, the district court erred when it stated that the sufficiency of the employee’s prima facie case was not relevant once the case went to trial. Because the employer failed to offer a nondiscriminatory reason for its conduct, the proper inquiry by the district court at trial was whether the employee’s evidence was sufficient to establish a prima facie case.

No causal link. Nonetheless, on its de novo review, the Eighth Circuit found there was not sufficient evidence of a causal link between the employee’s FMLA-protected activity and her alleged termination. The appeals court rejected the employee’s reliance on temporal proximity to establish causation. The employer had received notice that the employee would be on FMLA leave months before she was terminated. Although the employee suggested that the relevant date for analyzing temporal proximity was her return to work, the Eighth Circuit looks to the date that an employer knew an employee was using or planned to use FMLA-covered leave.

In the absence of evidence other than temporal proximity, a reasonable jury would have no legally sufficient evidentiary basis to find for the employee on the causation issue. Accordingly, the appeals court affirmed the lower court’s ruling in favor of the employer.

The case number is 10-3398.

Brian H. May (Yates and May, LC) for Employee. John D. Bosco (Morgan and Lewis, LLP) for Employer.
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